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1800

We begin the year 1800 with a report from Governor Wentworth to Isaac
Coffin, in which he appointed Mr. Coffin to be commissioner of His Majesty’s
careening yard at Halifax. This yard was located in the Tufts Cove area, on the
eastern side of Halifax Harbour, on the shore nearly opposite the Naval Hospital.

“Also a lot of land bounded on said cove and shore which was formerly
granted to Ezekiel Gilman, but since escheated, to extend 600 feet into the
harbour—also a town water lot in Halifax next to the Careening Yard, 66 feet
wide on Water street and bounded South by Andrew Belcher’s Water lot and
extending in the harbour eastward as far as the Dockyard extends . . . also the
land, the shore, and Watering Place on the East side of the harbour near Davis
and Barker windmill, containing in the whole, 265 acres. This is for the use and
purposes as the Lords Commissioners of our Admiralty or the Commissioners
of our Navy in England shall from time to time order and appoint Isaac Coffin
and his successors in office as aforesaid . . .”

March 1800

Other grants from Wentworth included one to R. J. Uniacke, a farm lot in
Dartmouth that had formerly been granted to Bryan Finucane (now escheated)
next to property belonging to James Creighton and Charles Lawrence, to Samuel
Hart and Rice property to Halifax Harbour. This was 150 acres which also
included a water lot that extended 300feet into the harbour. Also 11 acres of
land under water, also a lot number 10 in Division C in the town of Halifax.
Creighton’s ferry would operate from this grant and Dartmouth Cove started its
commercial operations from this.

Samual Hart, the Halifax merchant, and formerly a Loyalist who evacuated
from New York, received a grant of 1000 acres on the road leading from Preston
to Musquodobit River near the head of Lake Porter next to Preston Township.

There was now open hostility between Wentworth and Cottnam Tonge,
mostly about the Maroons. In a letter from Wentworth to Mr. King, the under-
secretary, he said that the Maroons are ready to embark at an hour’s notice,
except two families, who say the have engaged with Mr. Tonge and will stay
with him. Neither Mr. Tonge nor the Maroons shall be suffered to frustrate my
instructions to send them all to Africa. While government contemplated their
settlement here, Mr. Tonge took part with those who instructed them to resist .

(5]



The previous winters were even colder than in 1796 and 1797. The fall
of snow was the heaviest ever known in Nova Scotia. The number of Maroons
diminished and the weaker ones died off. The troublemakers had been thinned
out and sent to Bedford Basin. The overseers in Preston were notified to withhold
provisions from those who refused to work. This brought them to submission
and in June about 180 of them were at labor appointed for them.

It wasn’t until August of 1800 that they left the province for their new
home. They were considered a dead weight on the governor’s hands. The
expenses for maintaining them was about £10,000 (10,000 pounds) per year.
They did not return or justify any of this great expense.

About 551 Maroons left on the ship “Asia,” for the continent of Africa at
Sierra Leone. They were in good health, except for three of them. They reached
their destination in October, after an expenditure of £46,000 from the Island of
Jamaica, as well as, the British Government. When these Maroons evacuated
Preston the land was then at the disposal of the government.

During the previous year, on December 13, an application was made by
William Turner and other inhabitants of the South East Passage, stating it would
be a public utility to have a road laid out between the Ferry House at Dartmouth
and the southern part of the Eastern Passage.

In January of 1800, the court appointed Theophilous Chamberlain, Tobias
Miller, and Mr. John Allen to enquire into the necessity and conveniency thereof,
then report to the court on the first Tuesday of March, next.

On March 4, 1800, the report on the road to the South East Passage was
returned by Chamberlain, Miller and Allen, and the court ordered that the Sheriff
summon a jury of the next township to lay out the same to a law of this province,
and then return the same on April 15, next. However, the time was extended to
May 20" after the May 1% meeting.

On June 3, the Surveyors of the Highway were called to see the constables
in their wards and with them, go and take an exact list of people in their wards
who are liable to give six days labor on the highways, and make a return thereof
to the Court so the Clerk of Peace give to each of the surveyors a copy of the
order. On June 13", it was recommended by the Court that the Surveyors of
Highways receive from such persons as shall be disposed to pay the sum of 10
shillings from each instead of their six days of labour, and the sum of 25 shillings
from those persons that have horses and carts.

On April 1* there were new appointments from the General Court of
Quarter Sessions. These included the following:



Robert Collins appointed Surveyor of Highways for Dartmouth

Samuel Greenwood appointed Surveyor of Highways from Greenwood to
Dartmouth

Samuel Prescott Jr. appointed Surveyor of Highways from Dartmouth to
South East Passage

Brown Coleman appointed Fence Viewer and pound keeper for Dartmouth
William Mott appointed Surveyor from Tan Yard and crossroad at Simpsons
John Reeves appointed Hogreave for Dartmouth

Brown Coleman appointed Constable for Dartmouth

Mark Jones appointed Constable for Dartmouth Roads

Andrew McMinn appointed Constable for South East Passage

John Wheston and Samuel appointed Constable for Preston

Andrew Smith appointed Constable for the Maroons

This year there were many changes in properties and the owners. For
example, in Preston, Angus McDonald sold 175 acres in two lots to James Putnam
for the price of £10. This was located near Salmon River and Lake Echo vicinity.
In the South East Passage area the Honorable Richard Bulkely and his wife
Mary, sold 222 acres of land to Alexander Anderson, farmer, for £200. This
land was next to Thomas Donaldson’s land.

In Dartmouth, Joseph and Mary Davies , and John Barker and Mary Jane,
his wife (Millers) sold one third of a tract of land in the north end of Dartmouth,
to Edward Pryor, Sr., Alexander Goudge and Alexander McLean, for £581. This
lot contained 2 acres, 3 roods and 65 perches, besides a water lot that was
bounded by a plan of Edward and Sarah Foster to Davis and Barker in 1797.

On April 29, 1800, Benjamin Robinson sold 2 lots in the Dartmouth Town
Plot to Hugh Kelly for £50. These lots were number 5 and 6 of the letter “T.”
This also was provided that the lots were paid for in five years with legal interest
at 6% per annum. Failure to pay meant that the land would go back to the
original owner.

In Preston, William Annand sold 3 lots of 2% acres, 2 acres and also 1'%
acres to George Simpson for £25. These lots were located on the new cross
road to Cole Harbour, and also the cross road to the sawmill at Long Lake.

Benjamin Whittear, who lives in Rawdon, sold 500 acres to Conrad
Kappard, Philip Kappard and George Kappard for £125 . This was located in
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the South East Passage district and it bounded on the lands of Joseph Chadwick
for 100 acres, then to the rear of Joseph Goreham’s lot for 150 acres. This was
according to the annual plan of a grant to Benjamin Whittear.

In August, Sir John Wentworth, who was now a Trustee for the lands
purchased for the Maroons (negroes) from Jamaica, either gave or rented or
sold a large tract of this land to Charles Morris, Lawrence Hartshorne and Jacob
Conrad. This was in what had been Dartmouth Township that had been granted
to Frederick Ott and others.

It stated . . . whereas the said Sir John Wentworth as Trustee for the
Maroons, and also Morris, Hartshorne and Conrad are now actually in retention
of the lands formerly granted to Frederick Ott, as well as, parts of adjoining
waste land . . . the land bounded as follows . . . beginning at a small brook that
empties into Cole Harbour in the Township of Dartmouth, until it reaches the
North East corner of the land of Lawrence Hartshorne, then west to the North
East corner of the land of Robert Collins, to the west shore of Cole Harbour, to
the south east boundary of the lands of Nathaniel Russel, being part of the
original grant to Frederick Ott and others.

In September, Charles and Elizabeth Morris, sold a wood lot of 300 acres
in Dartmouth to David Bethune, carpenter, and John Wisdom, for £250. This
wood lot included lakes and timber land. It was bounded on the north by the
land grant to Benjamin Green, but now occupied by Lawrence Hartshorne and
others. Then south by the grant to William Forsyth and others, west by the land
grant to Charles Morris, then east by the grant to Barnabus Swain and others.

In Preston, Andrew Gray sold his town lot number 8 of the letter G, 12
acres, to Theophilus Chamberlain for 30 shillings. Chamberlain then bought
76 acres in Preston, from John Wisdom and Edward King for £37. The lot was
bounded on the west by the highway, north and east by a farm lot, then south by
land of Francis Green. It was mainly on the west road in Preston to the west
line of Lawrencetown.

[saac and Amina Hoyt sold 45 acres of land near Lake Eagle to Theophilus
Chamberlain for £12. This was lot number 5 of the letter “C.”

William Haywood sold 6 acres in two lots near Lake Loon to John Henry
Barnstead and Frederick William Woodman for £20.

In October, David Bethune, carpenter, and John Wisdom, carpenter, sold
300 acres of land in the Dartmouth Township to Samuel King, blacksmith.
Charles Morris acted as attorney for them as they each owed Samuel King the
sum of £200. This would then wipe out the debt. The lot was bounded on the
north by the land grant of Benjamin Green, et al, now occupied by Lawrence
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Hartshorne, et al, south and west by the land granted to Charles Morris, and on
the east side by the land granted to Barnabus Swain, et al.

In May, there was a description of a deed of land in Halifax that was sold
to Andrew Belcher from James Hamilton, Joseph Hamilton and Mary Ann
Hamilton, all former tanners from Dartmouth. They had moved to Onslow
where they received new grants of land.

In November, the executors of the late Richard Jacobs, who consisted of
Godfrey Jacobs and Casper Woolenhaupt, from Lunenburg, sold 500 acres of
land to Mathew Richardson, merchant, for £51. This lot was one-third of 1500
acres which was part of a grant of 3000 acres to Benjamin Bridge Sr., Benjamin
Bridge Jr., Jeremiah Bridge, Frederick Ott, Elias Hoffman and Amelia Mason,
that had been granted on October 1, 1765.

Sir John Wentworth sold to Mathew Richardson, merchant, for £352, for
the following lots in the Dartmouth Town Plot. Instructions had been sent to
Wentworth, from the Duke of Portland, regarding the sale of land on behalf of
the House of Assembly in Jamaica. The instructions included selling the Maroon
lands at a public auction. Mathew Richardson was the highest bidder. The land
had been granted to Timothy Folger who had sold it to W. D. Quarrel. It included
lot number 1 of the letter R. Also 2 lots, 7 and 8 in the letter S, with a partly
enclosed dry stone wall. Previously the land had been granted to Thomas
Cochran from the former Governor Parr. The other lots were number 1, 2, 3, 4,
11, 12, 13 and 14 of the letter R. The whole being 240 feet in length and 240
feet in width and all enclosed by a dry stone wall. It was at present occupied by
Francis Green.

The naval activity on the harbour included Lord Bridgeport’s fleet of 34
sail of the line, returning with Spainish prizes that were ascertained to be worth
one million sterling. Lord Bridgeport received £125,000. Captain Gore, Captain
Digby, Captain Young and Captain Pietrepont, received £60,000.

The proceedings of the Vice Admiralty Court included a Commission
from Sir John Wentworth to Judge Brentaus. The Admiralty Court has
jurisdiction over maritime matters, both civil and criminal. In England, the
Court of St. James was the Court of the Monarch of Great Britain so called,
from St. James palace where formal receptions were held. The Supreme Court
was the court of last resort. The Instance Court or Civil law dealt with any civil
action or judicial demand. This was also the court of first instance or the court
of primary jurisdiction. This was a division of the former Admiralty Court,
which exercised the jurisdiction in all matters in the Admiralty, except “prizes.”
Case law was based upon, or settled, by decided cases as distinguished from
“Statute” law.



Regarding the word “Common,” or Common law, this was land generally,
or a tract of land, considered as the property of the public in which all persons
enjoy equal rights. Also land owned by a town or by several persons jointly.
This also meant a common right to the use of the lands, and a tenancy of several
persons in common to the same property as commonage of pasture and land
held in common. Also the word common weal, or common welfare, was the
good or well being of the community or general welfare. At this point in
Dartmouth’s history there was no case of abuse of their Common grant or legal
challenges of loss of land.

There were 24 captured vessels other than the 34 captured vessels by
Lord Bridgeport. These were smaller vessels and the court ruling applied to
them on an individual case by case litigation. Any captured vessel would have
the officer in command of the vessel, that captured the vessel, charge them with
libel. The libeler would have to defend himself in the Court of Admiralty or
Vice Admiralty. He would be referred to as the respondent and answer to the
legal proceedings.

The rewards of capturing vessels under the “Letter of Marque”, that
legalizes piracy, were called privateers. This would be a term that legalized the
practice of pirates on the open seas.

Life on board ships was very hard and dangerous. Press gangs were needed
to complete the ships company of a necessary crew. The life on board a ship
was worth the risk if they were successful in capturing vessels at sea. The navy
was not as generous for sharing the prize as the privateers crews. This often led
to desertions from the Royal Navy, and the sea men or sailors would “jump
ship”, or desert, when they arrived at a sea port. The press gangs would then
scour the towns for any able bodied person that could serve this purpose, whether
the victim was willing or not.

The list of captured vessels included the following: Ship, Howard,
captured by the Earl of Dublin; Schooner, N.S. Del Carmen captured by the
Rover; Brig, Austria, captured by the Nelson; Schooner, Sally captured by the
Nelson, Ship Fabories captured by the Nymph; there were sundry goods also
captured by the Nymph; Sloop Union captured by the Duke of Kent; Schooner,
Laconception captured by the Lord Nelson; Brig, de la Conception captured by
the Duke of Kent; Schooner, Fly, captured by the Eagle; Schooner, Nandyke,
captured by the H M.S. Boston; Schooner’s, Hope and Mary, captured by the
Earl of Moira; Brig, Berkley, captured by the Earl of Dublin, Sloop, General
Green, captured by the Rover; Ship, Rebecca, captured by the Rover; Schooner,
N.S. Del Carmen, captured by the Duke of Kent; Brig, Moses Myers, captured
by the Rover; Schooner, Diligent, captured by the Ear/ of Dublin; Ship, Britus,
captured by the Earl of Dublin; Sloop, Little Charlotte, captured by the Earl of
Dublin.
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All this activity translated into more work for the civilian work force.
People began to move into the Halifax Harbour area. An example was, a contract
being put out for Timber to build the framing for a new market. This called for
700 feet of pine and spruce timber. Those interested would report to the
Commissioners, Charles Morris, J. George Pyke and Michael Wallace.

Another contract was put out for Lumber at His Majesty’s Lumber Yard.
[t called for raising timber, scantling, and pine logs. The proposals had to be in
writing, sealed and sent to John Butler, The Deputy Commissary and Storekeeper
General.

In February, an announcement was published for the need of 60 or 70
wagons required to haul the captured money chests from the Spainish ships.

In March, a contract was called for that included 250 chaldrons of coals
and 800 cords of wood for the Careening Yard. To pay for this would be public
bills of exchange at par value and you would have to apply to the Deputy
Storekeeper.

On April 15, Sir John Wentworth laid the foundation of St. George’s Church
for the German Congregation of Halifax.

The war at sea continued against the French. There were three of His
Majesty’s Ships arrived from a cruise, the H. M. Asia, the H. M. Cleopatra and
the H.M. Pheasant. The Government armed Brig, Princess Amelia, advertised
for 10 able bodied seamen and were to apply to John Mowat, Commander.

Near the Careening Yard at a small boat building facility, a new schooner
was built and offered for sale. It was called the Caraquet and could carry 500
barrels. Apply to Samuel Brown.

A report from the House of Commons complained about the scarcity of
corn. Resolutions were adopted regarding this problem. One of the results was
to ask the colonies to grow more corn for export.

Another report stated that the British Navy was never so numerous as at
present. It now consisted of 764 ships, exclusive of all the hired armed ships
which would include about 200 privateers. Most of these ships carried 20 guns
and were now commanded by Lieutenants. About 40 sail of the line were cruising
the Coast of France. The French and Spainish fleet would not dare to come out
to meet them.

This year the Honorable Henry Duncan, Commander of His Majesty’s
Naval Yard, returned after a long absence.

In October, the mast ships, Lord Macartney and the America arrived.
The mast ship Minerva arrived at St. John. The firm of Forsyth, Smith and
Company announced they would bring trade goods and merchandise on their
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return voyages from England. Out going would be naval timber.

The saw mill belonging to Mr. Porter was up for sale. It was located at
Porter’s Lake and the transported boards would be secured at 3 Fathom Harbour.
The land consisted of Birch, Beech, Maple, Spruce, and Pine trees.

Other news included the report of a Yellow Fever epidemic at Baltimore
and at Norfolk. Despite this, a levee was held to celebrate the birthday of the
Duke of Kent. It was also announced that the merchants were informed the
ship H.M. Porcupine would escort the mast ships for England on October the
25", If other vessels were ready they could avail themselves for protection.

The marriages for the year 1800 included the following:

January Joseph Stayner to Sarah Harding
Charles Rudolph to Isabella Donaldson

March Paul Greenwood to Catherine Barbara Miller
Donald Miller to Jane Mitchell
Richard Tufts to Mary Floyd
William Cogswell to Sarah Reeves
James Donaldson to Mary Rider

June Charles Reeves to Lucy Wisdom
James Newberry to Elizabeth Findley

August Robert Jackson to Jenny Simpson
October Charles Dunbrack to Margaret Storey
November Patrick Ross to Ann Wilson

December Alexander McLaughlin to Mary Storey

Baptisms included for the St. Pauls Church Records:

William Henry, son of John and Catherine Lunn, January 15
Elenor, daughter of Thomas and Margaret Adams, April 13
Mary, daughter of Thomas and Sarah Adams, April 15

John Parry, son of John and Susannah King, August 29

Alexander James, son of James and Elizabeth Money, October 30



1801

In the Halifax harbour area there was a small pox epidemic between
September of 1800 and February of 1801. It was reported that 182 people died
during that time period.

The great event of the British Empire was that the island of Great Britain
and Ireland were finally united under one legislative body. There was a great
ceremony held on the first day of the first year of that Century. The empire
would expand by sending waves of emigration in future generations.

In April, a project was formed to establish a bank at Halifax and £100,000
were to be subscribed. For the first hour £50,000 were subscribed. This was
mainly due to the present war with Spain and France because the spin off effects
boosted the economy of Nova Scotians. The merchants, farmers, laborers, etc.,
were all quite well off and prosperous due to the continued expansion of the
Public Works Program.

It was well known that just 10 years before there was only about £6,000
in the entire province. They were to issue paper money and discount notes.
Another condition was that no other bank would be established by any future
law of the province during the continuance of the said corporation. Naturally,
this would lead to complications in the future.

In June, during the second assembly session, the Governor as directed by
the Secretary of State, recommended the cultivation of hemp. Also, there was
to be an improvement of the roads. Now that there were sufficient numbers of
French prisoners they would be hired for that purpose.

On June 1*, Wentworth appointed Mr. A Belcher, William Forsyth, and
Charles Wentworth, to His Majesty’s Council.

It was reported that there was a shipwreck on Sable Island. A 300 ton
vessel from Boston, bound for Liverpool, England, went ashore with all sails
set. The cargo of 2,700 barrels of flour and cotton was valued at £26,000.

As a result, Governor Wentworth wrote to Seth Coleman in Dartmouth
the following letter . . . To Seth Coleman of Dartmouth, Nova Scotia . . .

: “Whereas it has been represented to me that a ship or vessel has lately

been cast on shore and wrecked on the Isle of Sable together with her valuable
cargo of flour and other property. You are therefore hereby authorized and
required to proceed with all possible dispatch in the schooner or shallop Angelic,
Simeon Fougere master, hired for this purpose by Jonathan Tremain by my
orders, to the Isle of Sable and afford every aid and assistance to preserve any
people and property you may find there . . .”
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Also included in the letter was a request for Coleman to make
recommendations for building lighthouses, what potential for the fishery, and
potential for agriculture, farming, etc. It had been reported to Wentworth that a
man and woman of wicked character had been landed on the island for the
infamous inhuman purpose of plundering, robbing and causing ship wrecks,
etc. You are to remove them from this island . . . other persons there are to be
removed from the island unless they have a Lycence from the Government, etc.

The reason for Seth Coleman to be given this request was that his whale
boat building was acknowledged by the Admiralty. Along with the lighthouses
would be a lifesaving station as well. Any ship wreck could have crews and or
passengers rescued and returned to Halifax. His whale boat design could carry
one ton of equipment. The whale boat was rigged for both rowing and sailing.
Whenever a contract was put out for a whale boat to be constructed, Seth Coleman
was always awarded the contract. One of his sons operated a private ferry
service from Dartmouth to Halifax, using the same whale boat design. Years of
whaling at sea from Nantucket Island created the essential for whaling
successfully, as well as, life saving purposes when necessary.

On June 4, 1801, Seth Coleman wrote to Governor Wentworth and made
several recommendations. Among them was, they should use Seal oil for the
lighthouses as it would be considerably cheaper than Spermaceti, which would
have to be shipped in from Halifax. The letter also described the best place for
lighthouse construction. He also recommended that the man named King, his
wife and 3 children be allowed to stay on the Island. They were employed by
the Master of the ship wrecked vessel to save as much property as they could.
He stated, . . . I thought under every circumstance it was not, at present, prudent
to remove King and his family from off the Island . . .

It should be noted that eventually there were Lighthouses on Sable Island,
also with life saving stations that used whale boats. This was also used by other
Provinces and the present day Canadian Coast Guard would have been started
in Dartmouth, Nova Scotia. The marine heritage of Dartmouth, Nova Scotia
would now include the start of lighthouses, life saving stations, a mast yard and
the first official Naval Watering Place.

The House of Assembly passed a vote of credit to enable the Lt. Governor
to settle three families on Sable Island as a result of Seth Coleman’s
recommendations that Lighthouses constructed of wood could be erected there.

In July, there was a sale by Auction held at the Wentworth Tavern. This
included 2 lots in the Cochran Woods, with 30 acres and a new house with each
lot. Also the lot number 12 at Cranberry Lake that contained 30 acres. Another
property for sale was 200 acres at Cole Harbour with a house and salt marsh
that was dyked to produce hay. Another lot was 106 acres of hardwood land on
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the West side of Lake Loon next to the land purchased by Mr. Cochran from the
Maroons. This is the remaining part of the land purchased from King and Wisdom
for the Maroons.

On July 21, Captain Inglefield, the Commissioner of His Majesty’s
Careening Yard, arrived in Halifax. The Bills of Exchange drawn at the
Careening Yard will be sold at par. This was good news for those who would
supply timber for the Yard.

A contract was published asking for bids for 3 house frames to be 26 feet
by 18 wide with 11 feet of post. To be framed for one and one half storey. The
proposals would be sent to the Governor General’s office, where the scantling
for the frames could be seen.

The former Maroon properties were announced for sale by Auction. This
would include the Maroon wharf in Dartmouth and a house that was formerly
occupied by a Mrs. Brown.

The House of Assembly noted a sum of money to open a road from Salmon
River in Preston to the Musquodoboit River. This would be 14 feet wide and
would include any bridges required. Tenders to supply the wood for bridges,
etc., would be sent to Theophilous Chamberlain.

On August 15, Lawrence Hartshorne was appointed to the Council by the
Lt. Governor, and declaring himself to be a Quaker, he was affirmed and took
his seat.

On August 26, Thomas Cochran died and the Governor appointed Mr.
Michael Wallace as Treasurer for the province.

In October, there was a rumor that Governor Bentinck would be the new
Lt. Governor of Nova Scotia. SirJohn Wentworth was embarrassed by the non-
payment of the bills for the expenses of the Maroons in Nova Scotia. His salaries
as Lt. Governor of Nova Scotia and Commissioner of Woods seemed to be
placed under impressment and suspension on this account.

In October, the preliminary articles of peace were signed between England
and France, followed by an exchange of necessary ratifications. It was also
reported that the small pox epidemic was raging all over the Atlantic seaboard.

Also in October, Benjamin Robinson, ship and boat builder in Dartmouth,
announced that he would continue to build vessels and small boats of every
type and all dimensions. He arrived with the Quakers from Nantucket in 1788
and continued his boat building business. He also would repair damaged vessels.

The Court of Vice Admiralty was busy with the Libel charges against 19
vessels this year. This included the following: Schooner, Nova Scotia Del
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Carmen, captured by the Rover; Ship, Columbus captured by the General
Bowyan; Schooner, Adam, captured by the Rover; Schooner, La Famo, captured
by the Rover; Schooner, Eliza, captured by the Nelson; Ship, Argus captured by
the Nelson; Brig, Abigail, captured by the Nelson; Brig, Nova Scotia Del Carmen,
captured by the General Bowyan; Schooner, Maria, captured by the Nymph;
Schooner, Peggy, captured by the General Bowyan; and the Schooner, Nancy,
captured by the General Bowyan.

In August of 1801, Judge Croke was appointed to act as the Commission
and Major Thessian was appointed to act as Collector . Schooner, William, was
seized by the Lilly; Schooner, Polly, was seized by the Pheasant; Schooner,
Eliza, was seized by the Pheasant; Brigantine, St. Michael and cargo, was seized
by the private ship, Duke of Kent; Schooner, Horrard Hemigo, was seized by
the armed Schooner, Lord Spencer, but no claimant appeared.

Property transactions in Dartmouth included the following: Benjamin
Salter, who was made Executor of the estate of Ezekiel Gilman on May 13,
1784, sold 200 acres of land in Dartmouth to the highest bidder, who was James
Creighton, at a public auction. The price paid was £90 and the lot was bounded
on the south by the land of William Clapham, deceased, now owned by Richard
Woodin Jr., on the west and north by the Dartmouth Common, and on the east
by land granted to Samuel Calbeck et al, according to an annexed plan. The lot
included a large farm. The sale took place on June 19, 1784, but was not recorded
until 1801.

In May of 1801, William and Margaret Turner sold 85 acres of land in
Dartmouth to Samuel Prescott, merchant, for £285. This was described as lot
number 51, which measured 40 roods in front and 340 roods in depth. This lot
was on the east side of land granted to James Creighton and it fronted on the
harbour (eventually Creighton’s ferry would be located here). Another 10 acres
of land on the north west of lot number 5 was included along with a Water lot in
the front of lot number 5 which ran 300 feet into Dartmouth Cove.

On May 14, Jonathan Tremain paid £70 as highest bidder for 40 acres of
land at a public auction. This lot was formerly owned by Charles Hill Jr., now
living in Halifax. Hill had owed Thomas Russell, Halifax merchant, money
that he could not pay. The sheriff, Wilkins for Halifax County, then seized the
land and put it up for public auction. It was located next to James Creighton on
the north, also west of the land of Edward Foster, south by the Dartmouth
Common, and on the east by lands belonging to John Reeves and James
Creighton. Lawrence Hartshorne paid £100 to Gideon Ellis, mariner, for two
lots in the Dartmouth Town Plot. The were number | and 2 of the town square
letter H; also the adjoining lots 3 and 4 with all the buildings on the properties.



William Turner mortgaged 500 acres of land on the road to Lawrencetown
for the sum of £400, from Lawrence Hartshorne. The mortgage had a condition
that it must be paid in one year at 6 percent interest per £100. If there was a
default on payment then the land would go to Hartshorne.

In Preston, Anthony and Nancy Elliot, who were blacks, sold 2 acres and
4 roods of a lot to another black, Joseph Scott, for £3. This was located east of
the sawmill lot owned by Samuel Scott.

In August, Sir John Wentworth, the agent for the Maroon lands, sold 328
acres, except 40, granted to John Farquharson, to Theophilus Chamberlain, for
£170, at a public auction. It was located in the Lake Loon area on the east, up
to the land of John Farquharson on the west.

At another public auction, George Simpson paid £95, for 1000 acres.
This had been sold by Sir John Wentworth as agent for the Maroon lands under
the instructions of the Duke of Portland. This also included 30 acres of former
Maroon land that had been purchased from the Cochran family. It was located
near Lake Topsail next to the land owned by Lawrence Lawlor.

In July, John Grant sold land in the South East Passage that had been
formerly granted to Alexander Chisholm, then to Michael Power for £15. Martin
and Miriam Meagher, from Dartmouth, sold 4 tracts of land in the Musquodobit
River area, along with 3 lots in the Dartmouth Town Plot, to Francis Pender,
mariner, for £500. The Dartmouth land had belonged to John Chadwick, who
sold it to Francis Pender, then to Meagher.

In August, Amelia Beamish sold 500 acres of land on the east side of
Bedford Basin to William Sabatier and Foster Hutchinson, for £25. Samuel
Hart, merchant, bought 106 acres of land in Preston, for £79, from Ebenezer
and Sarah Allen from Dartmouth. This was near the town lots at Lake Loon.
Charles Ramey Prescott and Samuel Thomas Prescott bought 150 acres of land
in Dartmouth from the Reverand Robert Morris, for £300. This had been the
former land grant to Rice and Lovett that had bounded on the land of James
Creighton. It also had a water lot of 300 feet into the harbour that had been
previously granted to Rufus Fairbanks. Lawrence Hartshorne and Jonathan
Tremain sold 4% acres of land in Preston to Tobias Miller for £4:10:0 (4 pounds
and 10 shillings, 0 pence). Miller bought 14" acres of land in Preston from
Andrew Gray for £6.

In another public auction of Maroon lands, Lawrence Lawlor was the
high bidder at £100, for 37 acres, called lot number 4. This land had been
previously bought from Thomas Cochran. Margaret Folger sold 3 acres in
Preston to Theophilus Chamberlain for £15. John Allen and John Stayner sold
100 acres near Lake Loon to Chamberlain, for £100. This extended to the saw
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mill lot at Long Lake. Thomas Wintle and his wife Elizabeth, who was the
sister of William Porter, deceased, put up 1,000 acres for public auction. The
highest bidder was Samuel Hart at £72. This included lot number | in Porter’s
Lake and another 2,000 acres at the head of the lake.

In October, John Bremner sold 392 acres in Preston, to John William
Schwartz, for 5 shillings.

At another public auction for Maroon lands, Charles Morris bought 3
lots, 149 acres, 500 acres, and 7' acres, for £750. This was at the head of Lake
Loon near the Michael Houseal property and east on the public highway.
Theophilus and Lamina Chamberlain sold 50 acres of land near Lake Topsail to
Margaret Floyer for £27:10:0.

The year’s best sale was for Maroon Hall, purchased at public auction at
the Wentworth Tavern by Samuel Hart for just £655. This would include with
the hall some 24 houses without buildings (sheds), etc, and the land. In order to
close the affair of selling the Maroon properties it was decided to include all the
unsold lands as well.

Maroon Hall had an extensive view of the seashore. The house was 40
feet by 40 feet and 2 stories high.

The barn was 40 feet by 25 feet with a good stable next to a store that was
40 feet by 20 feet, along with a sheep hovel, fowl house, out houses, 800 acres
of land with 25 acres of hardwood land under improvement. The cleared land
yielded 25 tons of hay and also gardens with oats, potatoes, fruit trees of apples,
pears, cherries and plums.

The sale of lands and properties extended from December 1 of 1800 until
November 2, 1801.

In December of 1801, Wentworth sold 90 acres of land at public auction
to Theophilus Chamberlain for £81. It bordered on Lake Loon next to the
property of Samuel Hart.



1802

Since 1800, which was the turn of the Century, the majority of land
ownership in Dartmouth belonged to James Creighton. He originally came
from Dartmouth in England and was the officer in charge of the militia in
Lunenburg. He returned to Dartmouth, Nova Scotia, and continued his role of
an officer in the militia as well as conducting merchant business affairs.

There were still several German and Swiss living in or around Dartmouth
and this included the Wolfe family, Christian Bartling, Abraham Peitch, Jacob
Conrod, G. Conrod, Johan Henkle, J. Liddell, Godfrey Schwartz, John William
Schwartz and Zebulon Schofield.

The remaining Quaker families included Seth Coleman, John Brown
Coleman, Leslie Moffit, Zachary Bunker, Barnabus Swain, David Grieve, James
Munn, and Robert Munn. Benjamin Robinson came with the Quakers and
remained to operate his boat building and repair business.

The Loyalists who stayed since they arrived in the 1780’s included Charles
Boggs, Michael Wallace, Thomas Donaldson, Lawrence Hartshorne, Jonathan
Tremain, Edward Foster, Senior and Junior, and family, Charles Reeves, William
Henry Worthy, William Allen, Jonathan Wisdom, and Thomas Davie. These
Loyalists were mainly merchants. Those Loyalists who were tradesmen included
Benjamin Elliot, William Wisdom, Edward Lowe, D. Graves, Frederick Major,
William Henderson, Andrew Malcolm and Jonathan Tapper. Other families
included John Skerry and George MacDonald; other merchants included Lewis
and Piers.

In January of 1802, two of the members of Council died. They were
Charles Morris and Henry Newton. Both had held large grants in the Greater
Dartmouth Township at one time or another. The result was that Wentworth
was appointing Council members who were related to him by birth or party and
business sentiments.

This was in keeping with the way Downing Street in London operated
their efforts to keep a monopoly with Government spending. The Nova Scotia
Council members should have been appointed for what they know, not who
they know. They should have been connected with Nova Scotia’s House of
Assembly by residence in Nova Scotia, and not their political and merchant
connections in London. Their decisions should have been based on the overall
good of the settlers and not the profits of the merchants and their puppet
politicans.

In the March session, a survey of the interior of the province was conducted
by Titus Smith, Junior. He collected information in botany, natural history,
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agriculture and he was self-taught in a variety of other fields of study.

The definite treaty of peace between the King of England and the French
Republic was concluded at Amiens on March 27 of the year 1802. Sir John
Wentworth wrote to Lord Hobart, the Secretary of State, telling him that the
revenue that is expected from London, fell off drastically because of peace.

Halifax, Dartmouth and all the vicinity around the harbour was suddenly
crowded with discharged and penniless soldiers, sailors and privateers. The
merchants tightened the strings on their “money bags.” There was also an
epidemic of measles since the previous mild winter.

Another set back was the threat of the American Congress and impose
duties of a dollar per barrel on pickled fish, and a dollar duty on a quintal of dry
fish. The lack of snow the previous winter meant that the transportation of
lumber, meat and farm produce to the Halifax area was ineffective. Sleds were
used in wintertime when the roads were covered with snow. Now these roads
were full of deep ruts, puddles, mud, rocks, tree falls and stumps.

In Pictou, the ship building program was estimated and planned to build
50 vessels that ranged from 100 to 1,000 tons for each vessel. They would then
sail with timber to England, or carry fish, oil, meat, and cattle to the West Indes
and Newfoundland. This policy made the merchants in Halifax and Dartmouth
aware of the need to step up the ship building industry. The small yards then
began to expand to bigger operations, repairing as well as ship building.

In Dartmouth the selling of land continued. In January, James Creighton
sold a Water lot, for £5, to James Hamilton, trader, Joseph Hamilton, tanner,
and George Simpson, mason. This was to the north of the large garden on
James Creighton’s property at Dartmouth Cove.

The tannery business in Dartmouth now grew into greater proportions
mainly because these were times of peace. Demands were made and met for
tannery goods such as leather, boots, clothing, baggage, etc. This demand existed
all over the civilized world. Everything from boots to saddle equipment, harness
rigs and even hinges on sheds and barns, etc., that would last through war and
peace. Several tannery yards provided employment to hide handlers, tanners,
cordwainers (boot makers) and laborers, etc.

Salt was used in the curing of leather hides. Having a Water lot, where
trading ships would bring cured salt from the West Indes, was essential to this
industry. Also, when hides were sent to the West Indes for trading purposes,
they would use blocks of ice to prevent spoilage. This eventually helped to
develop the “ice house” business for importing ice blocks to the tropical islands
in the West Indes, etc. The trading vessels returning from the West Indes
would also bring salt to cure the fish that was to be exported.
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James Creighton sold some of his waterfront property to James Hamilton,
et al, mainly for the tannery business. The price was £375. This included two
lots. One was for % of a tract of land and the other lot was for 6% acres. This
became a tan yard and it was located just north of James Creighton’s garden.
This would eventually become the “Hazelhurst” estate area. It was bordered on
the west by the Harbour then north east to the road (old Ferry Road) that joined
the Ferry Road to the Preston Road.

At a public auction of Maroon lands, William Allen, carpenter, was high
bidder at £171, for 347% acres in Preston, near the Little Salmon River.
Theophilus Chamberlain bought 97 acres, for £310. Stayner and Allen bought
30 acres for £100. This was near Lake Topsail and they built a successful tan
yard operation there.

John Reeves mortgaged land in the Town Plot and John Farquharson, for
£200. This was number | of the Letter E, number 15 of the Letter C, number 16
of the Letter E, including all the buildings on this land. The cost was £100 to be
paid in one year and the balance exactly one year later, with the legal interest at
6%.

John Stayner was high bidder on 100 acres of Maroon land in Preston, for
£150. This was for farm land near the Salmon River area. William and Rebecca
Allen sold 51 acres in Preston to Edward Hughes for the sum of £45. Hughes
also bought 30 acres from George Simpson, for £95.

At another public auction of Maroon lands, Alexander Allen paid £2,000
for 1,000 acres that included lakes in the Preston, Westphal area. William Allen
also bought 1,030 acres of Maroon land for the sum of £2,056. This lot was
located near the land of Robert Collins.

Nathan and Mary Hatfield mortgaged 806 acres of land between the
Preston highway and Cole Harbour, for £500, from Charles Hill. Included were
land lots in Rawdon and Halifax Townships with the mortgage.

Joseph and Mary Davis, merchant, mortgaged a of a lot in the Dartmouth
area to Edward Pryor, Thomas Goudge, Alexander McLean, all merchants, for
£700. This lot contained 2 acres, 3 roods and 35 perches, with a Water lot. The
land included mills, houses and water property. It had been part of the Edward
Foster grant then sold to Joseph Davis and John Barker. It was on one side of
the brook that emptied out of Albro Lake. The other side of the brook was the
Navy Watering Place.

The Greenwood Mast Yard was next to what would be a grist mill that
would be built by Davis and Barker. John Barker, miller, then mortgaged his
part of that land for, £700. This loan was to be repaid by February 24, 1805,
with the usual interest.
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At the next public auction of Maroon lands, Michael Wallace paid £230
for 500 acres in the Cole Harbour area. This was formerly the lot number 6 of
the Benjamin Green grant that was annexed.

In Preston, Jeremiah Halfpenny paid £43 for 33 acres of the Maroon land,
that bounded on John Mott’s land, to the old mill road then west on the road to
Lake Loon.

In the village of Dartmouth there were 50 acres of Maroon land, called
lot number 2, sold to William Allen, for £121. This was on the Dartmouth to
Preston Highway. William Allen then sold this lot of 50 acres to Ebenezer
Allen, for £121.

At another auction, William Mott bought 27 different lots of Maroon
lands, for £185. This would total about 225 acres.

In May, at a sheriff sale of land in Preston, Nathan Hatfield, a blacksmith,
was the highest bidder at £20, for 1000 acres near the Partridge River area.
Tobias Miller was the highest bidder at £139, for 505 acres of Maroon land for
5 lots on the road from Cole Harbour to Preston. Pheobe Moody paid £95, for
30 acres, called lot number 12 in the Cochran Woods area near Lake Loon, as
part of the Maroon land auction.

In March of 1796, Edward Foster Senior and Junior, sold a quit claim
deed to Samuel Greenwood for 10 shillings. It was for 196 acres of the Foster
grant on the east side of the Dartmouth lakes. It was just 3 miles from the
Foster Ironworks in Dartmouth, next to the Navy Watering Place.

In June of 1802, Samuel Greenwood sold this lot to Michael Bennet, for
£200. It was mortgaged with the understanding that the full sum would be
repaid by July 2, of 1803. This transaction was witnessed by John Stayner and
John Albro.

At the August public auction of Maroon lands, James Ross paid £110, for
80 acres in Preston. William and Rebecca Allen sold 200 acres of land on the
west side of Cole Harbour, to Hammond Green, for £100.

Edward and Hannah King sold 500 acres in the South East Passage area
to Peter McNab, for £200. This lot was bounded on the north west by the
Benjamin Green land on the rear of John Rouse’s land then to the harbour.

Barbara Rogers sold 200 acres in Preston to Mark Jones for 5 shillings.
This would include a 100 acre lot in the Patrick Byrnes Division.

Jeremiah Halfpenny sold 33 acres near Lake Loon to Hugh Tierney, for
£15.
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Henry Wisdom mortgaged 95 acres in Dartmouth, which was the former
grant to Benjamin Wakefield, to Charles Morris, for £100.

Phoebe Moody then sold lot number 12, of 30 acres in the Cochran Woods,
to John Daily, for £105. This was exclusive of Lake Loon and Lake Topsail.
John and Sarah Daily then mortgaged this lot to Charles Morris, for £50.

Theophilus Chamberlain also mortgaged 33 acres of land in Preston, to
Charles Morris, for £50. This involved 5 different lots of land to be paid in one
year. Chamberlain then sold Samuel Hart 3 acres in Preston for the sum of £25.
This was lot number 12 of letter F, in the Town lots.

Samuel Hart in the public auction of Maroon lands paid £100 for 14
different lots throughout the Preston area, from Porters Lake to Salmon River.

On December 13, Titus and Lydia Smith sold a triangular lot in the Lake
Loon area, about 80 acres, to Charles Morris, for £50.
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1803

In the spring of this year, the brief but unhappy, Peace of Amiens came to
an end and once again the colony of Nova Scotia felt the turmoil of a long war.

Letters of Marque and Commissions to privateers were issued. Within a
very short time the French ships and their cargoes were captured.

The notorious “King’s share,” would be given to the Privateers, but it
was announced that homeward bound Nova Scotian trading vessels should wait
for convoys.

There were many instances of Royal Navy personnel deserting their ships
to join up with the Privateer vessels. This meant that the “Press gangs” would
search out every possible chance to take any able bodied man or boy and force
them to go to sea. The farmers, woodcutters, leather workers, etc., would avoid
the docks of Halifax and Dartmouth, and melt into the countryside in the early
hours of the evening. The first place to be visited were the taverns, jails, houses
of ill repute, etc. The only positive aspect of this was that the crime rate would
just about vanish. Life onboard the Royal Navy ships would be a living hell.

The soldiers that were given land with their regimental comrades, either
took up a life of farming, or rejoined their Regiment to fight again. They would
sell their lots if farming was not for them.

The civilian population now had more work because the Public Works
Programs would be resumed. Also there would be a greater demand for
agriculture products, lumber and timber, the tan yards, the grist mills, ironworks
cooper shops, ship yards, etc. These new industries were getting started and
they met the local demands as well as exporting their finished products. The
Merchant trading firms were making full use of the water front facilities and
expanded their wharves and their warehouses. The local fisherman ventured
further away along the east and west coast of Halifax Harbour. The sawmills
began to move to the out ports and coves, etc. This translated into a prosperous
province to develop a year round full-time business on a permanent basis.

For the Dartmouth village the biggest employer was the Hartshorne and
Tremain grist mill operation in Dartmouth Cove. This included a Bake House
operation.

The Royal Navy vessels, and those ships that were convoyed or escorted,
would line up at anchor in Dartmouth Cove to get their rations and share of corn
meal and ships bread, called “hard tack” or “ships bisquit.”

In April, there were press warrants authorized by the Admiralty and the
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House of Assembly, to impress 50 men. This would be in force for 10 days
only. It was granted to Captain Bradley of the H.M.S. Cambrien.

An appropriation bill, passed both the Council and the House of Assembly,
that allowed £500 to pay bounties to sailors entering any Navy ship at the station.
This was not to exceed £10 per man, nor a total of £2,000 before all were signed

up.

In September, the desertions from the Regiment were numerous. General
Bowyer offered a pardon to any man who would surrender. Also now, the Press
gangs would operate around the province. Magistrates of all settlements were
issued circular letters that urged the cooperation or face imprisonment from the
vessels along the coast.

Life for the civilian population continued as usual. On March 29, John
George Bisset was nominated as Surveyor of the Roads between Cole Harbour
and Green Bay.

In June, there was a petition from Seth Coleman, praying that the landing
place for the new Dartmouth Ferry be attended to. The consideration was put
off until the following Thursday in July.

On September 9, John Connor was found guilty of petty larceny after
pleading not guilty and putting himself on trial. A panel of jury men were
sworn in and the verdict of guilty was reached. On September 30, the court
declared that he would be remanded for one month.

Property transactions this year included the following: Ebenezer and Sarah
Allen, cordwainer (bootmaker), sold 50 acres of land in Preston to John Stayner,
for £100. This was farm lot number 2 of the former Maroon Plan lots.

Tobias and Margaret Miller sold 405 acres of land, in four lots in Preston,
to Phoebe Moody, for £89.

James Ross, farmer, mortgaged his farm of 80 acres in Preston to Phoebe
Moody, for £110. This would be paid by installments of £25 by November
next, £20 by the following November, £20 in two years and then the balance at
the end of the third year at 6% interest per annum. This was the typical way of
mortgaging and repaying loans. Any failure to pay meant the forfeiture of all
money paid and loss of the land.

In January, Phoebe Moody paid £244 for 180 acres of the Maroon lands
at a public auction.

Richard and Martha Uniacke sold a farm lot near the Dartmouth Town
Plot to Andrew McMinn, for £230. This lot had been granted to Brian Finucane,
but was now escheated. There were 11 acres with a Water lot that was 60 feet
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by 300 feet. It bounded on the south by the land of James Creighton, on the old
boundary between the Charles Lawrence grant and now the James Creighton
property, then eastward to Creighton’s garden to the hill, then southwest to Rice
and Lovett grant, and then 337 roods to the harbour.

In February, Theophilus Chamberlain sold 106 acres to John Stayner and
John Allen, for £79. This was exclusive of the cove in the area of the “middle”
lake, or Topsail Lake. They would build a very successful Tannery, or Tan Yard
business. This was on the north boundary of Cochran’s land.

William Allen sold 30 acres of land to Thomas Boggs, for £50. This was
lot number 16 of the Plan of Maroon lands. Thomas Boggs, who was a very
successful merchant in Halifax and Dartmouth Township, also paid £54 as the
highest bidder on 100 acres of Preston land and 50 acres near Cranberry Lake,
called lot number 15 of the Maroon Plan lands.

Samuel Hart secured a bond, for £4,000, with a penal sum of another
£4,000 to a merchant firm in London, England. For collateral, his land in Halifax
and Preston was used. This amounted to 2,609 acres. Property in Dartmouth
was also included. The London merchants were considered Tenants in Common
and not joint tenants.

In March, Nathan Hatfield, blacksmith, was the highest bidder at £158
for 100 acres in Preston at another public auction.

In April, Theophilus Chamberlain sold 50 acres in Cochran’s Woods to
James Allen, for £62. James and Elizabeth Allen used this lot for collateral to
mortgage land to Richard Uniacke for the penal sum of £130.

In June, David Bethune sold 50 acres of land in Dartmouth to John Wisdom
for £62. This was paid by Sylvester Smith. The lot was next to a lake that was
north over to Bethune’s lot, from there it ran to the grant of Barnabus Swain, et
al.

Joseph and Barbara Hamilton, tanner, sold 30 acres called lot number 6
in Cochran’s Grove, to Samuel Hart for £110.

Robert Anderson, now living in Hammonds Plains, gave a release Quit
Claim against the following farmers in the South East Passage area. This was
George Horn, Andrew Horn and Benjamin Horn, and it was for 25 acres of the
grant to Findley McKenzie. The Horn family then bought 72 acres of land in
Dartmouth from Thomas and Elizabeth Butler, for £20. This was next to their
land by Quit Claim, then north by Alexander Wilson’s land and south by the
land of Michael Power.

At another public auction of Maroon land, Theophilus Chamberlain paid
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£490 for 750 acres of land in 3 lots around Lake Major. Chamberlain then sold
the same lots to Lady Frances Wentworth for exactly the same price of £490.
Could this have been a coincidence? John Wentworth at this time was under
suspicion for several dealings not considered legitimate by Cottnam Tonge and
other members of the Council. Wentworth then had to write a personal letter to
the King and explain his situation, then the Lords of Trade and Plantations
allowed his salary to be released. The allegations by the Council and the House
of Assembly were ignored which was the usual way that well connected people
operated.

In July, John and Ann Barnstead, cordwainer, mortgaged 30 acres of land
in Cochran’s Woods to Phoebe Moody, for £1,000. This was for four years at
6% interest.

Alexander and Mary Wilson, farmer, sold 50 acres, or "4 of lot number 4
ofthe John Forsyth, et al, grant to Richard Whaley, master mariner, for £23:15:0.
Also included was a 2% acre lot near a small lake.

In August, Frederick and Mary Woodman, shoe maker, sold 6 acres in
Preston to Samuel Wheston, for £14. Nathaniel and Mary Russell sold 400
acres of land near the Cole Harbour Road, to James Robertson, for £850. This
was part of lot number 4 of the Benjamin Green grant. It bounded on the road
to Baimbridge land, over to C. Kemp land, then west to James Creighton property.

In September, Benjamin Gerrish Gray bought 40 acres of the former
Maroon property near Lake Loon, for £45. This took place at another public
auction under the direction of Governor Wentworth, who was acting as Agent
for the Crown.

James and Catherine Robertson mortgaged the land they bought from
Nathaniel Russel for £600. The terms were that £100 had to be paid per year for
6 years.

James Clark sold 50 acres in the Preston area to the blacksmith, Nathaniel
Hatfield, for £10. This was part of the farm lot number 5 of the letter B.
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1804

In February, Sir John Wentworth wrote to the Secretary, Lord Hobart,
that 70 or 80 cargoes of timber would be exported from Nova Scotia and the
potential for another 600 cargoes, if encouragement was given. Also the growth
of industry, provisions, etc., for the province.

In April, his report said the trade of the province had suffered because of
so many captures and loss of other vessels. There were lower prices being paid
for fish in the West Indes because the Americans were underselling them.
However, the timber trade was prospering and 20,000 tons would be ready for
exportation. Fish and oil would be sent abroad, but the demand for skill in
agriculture made flour available only by imports.

In May, Lawrence Hartshorne resigned his seat on the Council. Governor
Wentworth complained to Lord Hobart that respectable people were reluctant
to serve or accept an appointment at the Council.

One issue that seemed to be in controversy was the recommendation, for
£3,200, for roads and bridges that was sent up to the Council for their
concurrance, but there it remained.

In another report to Lord Hobart, Wentworth complained about the state
of the Militia. An invasion was expected because of so many French troops and
ships going to the United States.

In October, a false alarm of an attack was set off by General Bowyer to
determine the state of readiness of the Militia. In one hour there were 961 men
distributed to the batteries and posts. However, there were only 200 well trained
men in the Artillery, 80 expert marksmen, one company of Grenediers, light
infantry, and one battalion completely clothed, but the rest had no uniforms.

On April 2, the Court ordered that the inhabitants of Dartmouth, South
East Passage and Cole Harbour be assessed £40, as their share of county charges
inclusive of Commission. This included fire wards, county charges, roads,
prisons, etc. The Assessors were Jonathan Tremain and Robert Collins.

In September, the Court ordered that the clerk write to Theophilus
Chamberlain, requesting him to report to this Court what steps have been taken
by the Assessors of Dartmouth, relative to County Rates for the current year.

In November, the Court found Francis Story guilty of Assult on George
Donaldson. He was fined £3 with court costs. A bond of £20 was posted for his
good behavior for three months.

Property transactions for this year included the following: In March,
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Samuel Prescott sold 85 acres of land to Peter McNab for £100. This land was
bounded north by the land of Lovet and Rice, south by the land of Lt. Governor
Fanning, east by the land of James Creighton, and west by the harbour.

Jacob and Elizabeth Conrad sold 100 acres of land in Cole Harbour to
Joseph Giles for £25. This lot was bounded on Conrod’s land to L. Hartshorne
land and followed the road back to Conrod land.

In June, Samuel and Mary King, blacksmith, sold 50 acres of land in
Dartmouth to Sylvester Smith, for £62. This was bounded by the land of Daniel
Bethune and the land grant to Barnabus Swain, et al. This also included all the
buildings and water ways, etc.

In a public auction of the Maroon lands, George Simpson paid £18 for 3
acres of land in Preston. It was next to the cross road and the Benjamin Green
land grant

In August, Theophilus Chamberlain sold 20 acres of land to Margaret
Floyer for £12:10:0. This lot was bounded by the middle lake and the small
lake next to John Farquharson’s land.

In October, Martin Seward, farmer, sold 218 acres in the South East
Passage area, to Lewis Himmelman, farmer, for £250. It was located near Jacob
Hurd’s lot, to a fresh water lake and then south east to the harbour.

In November, Richard Woodin sold 3 acres and 27 roods to Lawrence
Hartshorne and Jonathan Tremain, for £160. This lot was bounded by the
dwelling house of Richard Woodin and the high tide water mark at Dartmouth
Cove entrance, and included all the buildings.

James Creighton Jr., and Charlotte Mary Creighton sold a lot in Dartmouth
to George Boutilier, for £312. The lot started on the road from the Ferry
(Creighton’s) called the South Ferry, to the Preston road. It was the south
boundary to the Tan Yard, then south to the Hartshorne and Tremain land to the
harbour of Dartmouth Cove, then to the Tan Yard, and then to the end of the Tan
Yard boundary.

Edward Foster granted lot number 2 of the partition of lands, formerly
granted to Edward Foster Sr., et al, to Samual Greenwood. Samuel Greenwood
Sr. then sold a lot of 10 acres to John and Samuel Albro, for £500. It was
located nearly opposite His Majesty’s Hospital in Halifax, just north of the Naval
Watering Place which was the north boundary of the Dartmouth Common. It
was bounded by an iron bolt then 18 feet to a birch tree, then 28 feet east to a
dwelling house above the Tan Yard. Then south for 29 roods to a large stone
above the high water mark marked G. A. The lot included a Tan Yard, wharves,
etc. There was a condition that the brook had to be kept clean and running clear
from what would be the Albro Lakes, down to the Tan Yard then to the harbour.
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Theophilus Chamberlain sold 50 acres of land in Preston to Josiah
Richardson, sawyer, for £12. It was on the east side of the sawmill lot. John
and Mary Greenwood then sold 2 acres of land next to their sawmill lots to
Josiah Richardson, for £4:10:0.

In December, William Gray, son of Andrew Gray, conveyed to John Stayner
and John Allen a one-third parcel of 1000 acres, with a new sawmill. This was
located at Salmon River and the sawmill area at Long Lake Brook. The land
was granted, sold, and confirmed by Robert Hall, merchant, to William Gray, a
minor of 12 years of age, for £100, when he reached the age of 21 years upon
the tender to Gray for the sum of £50.
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1805

Vice Admiral, Sir Andrew Mitchell, complained to the Lt. Governor about
deserters from the Royal Navy being harbored and concealed by the settlers.
He requested a press warrent for 14 days, under the customary restrictions.
This led to a great deal of civil unrest when a party of sailors and marines,
armed with rifles and bayonets from the H.M.S. Cleopatra, fought, and a riot
started when a civilian was seriously wounded by a marine. The Council advised
the Solicitor-General to prosecute all persons who were engaged in such
impressment and then to notify the Vice-Admiral by letter.

Things were rapidly getting difficult when the West Indes trade was almost
annilated by so many captures. This resulted in most of the sea faring men,
either dead or captured and confined, in French prisons. Most of the victims
left numerous family members that had to be supported by the “poor rates” and
private charities.

The fishery kept the province prospering because there were more dried
fish prepared this summer than any other previous year. The pickling of fish
was now on a very large scale. Even Agriculture began to gain ground when the
largest harvest in the province’s history was collected.

Provisions of a variety were supplied to the Army, the fleet, the Dockyard
and even the prisoners of war that numbered between 500 to 700. A large
number of these prisoners were located and housed in Dartmouth, Preston, and
a small colony near Morris Lake called French town. One result was that flour
had to be imported from the United States to meet this vital requirement.

On October 18, the Council established a “Quarantine” on all vessels
arriving from Philadelphia, New York, and other cities and towns along the
Atlantic seaboard, as well as from the West Indes. This was due to an epidemic
of Yellow Fever that was raging all over the coastal communities.

On December 28, the committee of supply voted £6,000 for roads and
bridges, £2000 for Agriculture, £3000 for fisheries, and £500 for bounties for
seamen to enlist in His Majesty’s service. This was on the condition that no
inhabitant or fisherman would be impressed.

Court records for January included the Court directing that Mr. Tremain,
Mr. Collins and Mr. Simpson be summoned to attend this Court on Wednesday
next at 12 o’clock, to take the Oath of Assessors for Dartmouth for the year
1805. They were then sworn in.

The Commissioners of the Poor made application for the sum of £900 for
the support of the Poor for the present year, which was then put to a vote by the

Chairman.
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The Fire wards asked that £70 be assessed in the Town of Halifax for the
purpose of repairing fire engines, pumps, and wells, etc. This was voted in
unanimously. In a share of costs by other towns than Halifax, Dartmouth was
assessed for £34. This was also for the assessment of the Poor and Fire ward
expenses of the town.

Since 1801, when a succession of fires hit Halifax, the townsmen decided
to form the “Sun Fire Company.” Previously, the fire fighting was done by the
soldiers with very crude fire engines from the Forts and Garrisons. Later it
became fashionable to belong to a volunteer company in a fire ward. Every
man kept in readiness his leather cap and bucket. They would fight fires with
buckets and hand pumped engines, leaky leather hats, canvas soil cloth fire
hoses, etc.

In September, the Court ordered that Theophilus Chamberlain be written
regarding the assessed rates of Dartmouth.

On December 11, Theophilus Chamberlain appeared before the Court
regarding County Rates and Poor Rates. There were £2 made on the inhabitants
of Dartmouth which were confirmed. On the recommendation of Mr.
Chamberlain, Mr. Tobias Samuel Miller was appointed Collector of the above.
The Court then ordered that a renewal order and warrant be directed to Mr.
Miller.

In September, the Court trial of Alexander Davie, Alexander Cunning
and William Ellison for the assault on Thomas Donaldson took place. Only
Alexander Davie was found guilty. All three of them paid a fine of £5 with
additional court costs.

Property transactions this year included the following: Mast maker, Samuel
Greenwood Sr., received a mortgage from Charles Morris for £105:10:0 for
exactly one year only. For collateral, land was used being lot number 3 in the
Agreement of Partition of lands on the shore of Halifax harbour that had
previously been granted to Edward Foster, for 125 acres. Also 5 acres of lot
number 1 and number 2, both 5 acres each, and all land except 2 acres of Samuel
Greenwood’s Tan Yard which was appropriated and sold to John and Samuel
Greenwood.

Joseph Hawkins sold 448 acres, from the beach at Cow Bay to the lake,
to Robert Lyon, for £99.

John Dunbrack sold land in the South East Passage to John Grant, for
£15.

Jane Cochrane, Administrix of Thomas Cochran, had to sell off large
quantities of land to settle the estate. Commissioners were appointed by the Lt.
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Governor and Council to examine the claims of creditors and make a report to
determine what estate would be sold. The personal estate was not enough to
pay the debts. On September 24, 1803, the Governor in Council ordered real
estate be sold to pay off these debts.

At the public auction the land was sold to Michael Wallace, Winchworth
Allen and Brenton Haliburton, who bought several lots, for £12,233. This was
in Dartmouth at “Green’s Point,” which was co-owned by Timothy Folger. There
werel0 acres bounded by Dartmouth Cove and on the north by Front Street.
Also was the land purchased from Gersham Tufts on March 24 of the year,
1792. This was located near the narrows to the grant of James Quin, et al, over
to the grant of Frederick Ott, et al. Another part was the 110,000 acre grant to
James Fulton at Country Harbour.

In May, Samuel Albro, tanner and currier, mortgaged 10 acres or a half
share of land to William Goreham, Senior, for £300. This lot was situated
directly opposite the Naval Hospital in Halifax, and it included a half share of
the Tan Yard on the property. The terms were that £18 be paid each year on
March 1.

Mary Jane Barker and John Miller sold land in the Dartmouth Town Plot
to Sophia Hawkins for 5 shillings. One lot was 60 feet on Cochran’s land near
Green Point. Another lot was number 5 of the letter “O” near King Street and
east by the Widow Coffin’s lot for 60 feet, this included the buildings. This lot
was formerly granted by an indenture of mortgage made by John Barker to
Sophia Hawkins on January 1, 1804.

John Smith mortgaged a 200 acres lot to Thomas and Elspet Donaldson
for £104:9:7. This bounded on the land of John Rouse and ungranted lands.

At a public auction held by Lewis Wilkins, Sheriff, 80 acres of land
belonging to Edward Fanning was bought by Lawrence Hartshorne as high bidder
at £35:14:0. This bounded on the land of James Creighton, then on the northwest
by lot number 5, then the property of William Turner, south and west by the
Harbour. This lot was then taken in execution at the suit of Lawrence Hartshorne.

In July, Josiah and Catherine Richardson sold a sawmill lot near the mill
pond of 50 acres, and another lot of the Maroon Plan of 50 acres to Edward
Pryor, Thomas Goudge and Alexander McLean. This was to satisfy a debt to
them for £74:18:4. They were the highest bidders for this land at this price.’

James and Catherine Robertson sold part of lot number 4 of the original
grant to Benjamin Green, et al, to Nathaniel Russel for £850. The lot was
bounded on Russel’s land and by the Cole Harbour Road on the south side. It
was also bounded on the land of James Creighton and Edward King. It contained
400 acres with farm lots, pastures, buildings and a water course.
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Mary Wisdom, widow of John Wisdom, Mary King, Edward and Elizabeth
Godlfry, carpenter, and Lydia Tuttle, spinster, sold 100 acres of land in Dartmouth
for 5 shillings to Henry Wisdom, carpenter. This lot was bounded on the lands
of Jonathan Tremain and John Farquharson. Henry Wisdom then sold the 100
acre lot to Mary Wisdom, Edward Wisdom and Alexander Anderson, for £125.

Ebenezer Allen, shoemaker, sold to the creditors of Alexander Allen a
total of 62 acres for £352:13:0. The lot was bounded by the land of Samuel
King, John Wisdom and Edward King up to the grant of James Wakefield, et al.

Charles and Sophia Lyons sold 100 acres near the Eastern Battery, for
£25, to Samuel Prescott. It bounded on the harbour up to the land of James
Creighton. In October, Samuel Prescott sold this lot of 100 acres to Michael
Herbert, for £50.

Ebenezer and Meribah Allen sold 3 separate lots in the Preston area to
John Stayner and John Allen, for £120.

William Lyon, et al, auctioned off land in Dartmouth, a total of 62V acres
that had been purchased by Ebenezer Allen from Samuel King. Stayner and
Allen were the high bidders at £325. Theophilus Chamberlain also sold 350
acres of the sawmill area at Long Lake, to Stayner and Allen, for £100.

Jacob and Francis Horn, Senior, sold 34 acres in the South East Passage
to George Horn for £33:10:0. It was located in the shore line on the land formerly
occupied by David MacNamara.

Jacob Conrod donated the land to Joseph Glasgow, mason, where he had
lived in Cole Harbour.

William Reeves gave 10 acres of land in Dartmouth to his son John Reeves.
This was the front part of a 20 acres lot called number 7 of letter A. He also
gave lot number 5 of the letter B, about 80 acres, to his son John.



1806

On January 8, an Act for the encouragement of Agriculture, as amended
by the Council, was viewed as a money bill and ordered to be, “thrown under
the table.”

There was now a sum of £50 voted for the relief of debtors in jail as
indigents. Resolutions were passed in favor of a paper currency receivable at
Treasury, and to be made a legal tender.

Appropriation bills were passed and their sums granted, among others,
was a bounty per acre on land cleared and planted. The amount was £2,000.
Tonnage bounty on vessels employed in the cod fishery was £3,000. The total
for roads and bridges was £5,500. These grants would add to the settling and
developing of the towns throughout the entire province.

Once again the battles between John Wentworth and Cottnam Tonge were
renewed. The House of Assembly wanted more say in how the Provincial revenue
was spent, but all that was collected, under the English Statutes before 1778,
was entirely beyond their authority.

The local public officers possessed the advantage of governing in the
Council where their proceedings, both Legislative and Executive, were conducted
in private. They had all the means and methods in their power to check limit
and oppose the views of the democratic elected representatives in the House of
Assembly. It was just a matter of time before a course of collision would arise
between this Council and the elected House of Assembly.

In March, the Grand Jury appeared to deliver several Bills of Inditement.
This included a Petition against the inhabitants of Dartmouth, regarding their
jury. The Court was of the opinion that Mrs. Cochrane was over the Assessment
rates and then reassessed the sum to £2:10:0. The Court directed the Clerk to
write to Mr. Tobias Miller to make an immediate return of the Dartmouth
collections.

On March 17, the Court ordered that Mr. Sabatier, Mr. Woodin and Mr.
Chamberlain be requested to make a return of persons at Dartmouth, Windsor
Road and St. Margarets Bay.

County charges for this year for Dartmouth was for £177. The Court then
appointed Edward Foster, Ebenezer Allen Jr., and Robert Collins as the Assessors
for Dartmouth. They were ordered to be directed to assess these inhabitants for
the sum of £177.

On March 20, was appointed the Court to hear the complaints against the
Ferry at Dartmouth. Mr. Foster Hutchinson was heard on a petition and then
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Mr. Wilkins was allowed to be the spokesman on behalf of Mr. Creighton. The
result of this hearing was that the Court appointed William Taylor, William
Lyon and James Fraser as a Committee for the regulations of the ferry and then
report to the Court the following Monday.

On March 24, the Court deferred their consideration until the next day.
On March 28, the Court made the following regulations for the Ferry and ordered
that a copy be delivered to Mr. Creighton, to whom the Court directed that a
licence be given for one year.

On April 15, upon the recommendation of Theophilus Chamberlain, the
Court appointed John Allen, George Simpson and Samuel Wheston as Assessors
for Dartmouth, and Thomas Settle as Collector. The county rates for Dartmouth
was set at £70.

A policy in practice by His Majesty’s ship Captains began to overreach
their power by stopping merchant trading vessels and taking crew members for
the shortage of the ships crews. This impressment began to apply to American
vessels as well as Canadian vessels. The British claimed they were searching
for deserters from their naval vessels. Even Governor Wentworth could see the
danger of this policy and protested by writing to London.

Admiral Mitchell was able to keep up this practice by one method or
another. He would openly defy any attempt to free any impressed American
seamen and kept them imprisoned below decks when they were in any sea
ports. When the number of impressed seamen posed a very serious problem
with shipping and trading, the Americans began to fight back.

Property transactions in 1806 included the following: J. Christopher Rust
sold 100 acres of land in Cole Harbour to Jacob Conrod, for £100.

In Preston, John and Mary Greenwood sold lot number 7 of the letter A,
near the mill dam at Salmon River, 88 acres, to Timothy Crane, for £40.

Marshall Storey sold 100 acres of land in Cole Harbour near the Salmon

River hole, and a small island called Gooseberry Island, to John Mayorin, for
£50.

Edmund and Susannah Macey, mariner, sold land in the Dartmouth Town
Plot, near the new bridge, and lots 3 and 4 of the letter K, to Michael Morris,
shipwright, for £145.

Samuel Greenwood sold several lots to John and Samuel Albro, for £350.
One lot was near the narrows, called lot number 2 of the Edward Foster grant of
196 acres. Also included was part of lot number 3 for 230 acres that had been
sold to Greenwood by Edward Foster, both Junior and Senior. Also 5 acres of
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lot number 1 along the waterfront, with the watercourse being reserved from
the plan of partition for the use to Edward Foster.

In June, Richard Woodin sold 3% acres to Jonathan Tremain and Lawrence
Hartshorne, for £40. This ran along a public road that bounded on the Tremain,
Hartshorne land near the entrance to their grist mill and Bake House.

Phoebe Moody sold lot number 9 in Cochrane’s Woods, about 30 acres to
James Cole, cordwainer, for £100. The money was to be paid in installments of
£20 per annum. James and Ann Cole were to pay off this debt in 5 years, as in
a mortgage.

In December, Elizabeth Brown, widow, sold 200 acres of land called lot
number 112 in the Second Division of Preston lands, to William Carritt, for the
sum of £5.
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1807

On January 14, the Lt. Governor Wentworth, in consequence of the small
number of council members, recalled Lawrence Hartshorne. He then resumed
his place as a member of the Council.

Allegations of fraud were made against Michael Wallace, but his accounts
were thoroughly checked over and they were approved.

Later during the election in which Cottnam Tonge ran for the County of
Halifax, this resulted in a temporary defeat of Michael Wallace. However,
because Tonge did not own a freehold in the country and/or, a new writ, Michael
Wallace was voted back in. This clash between them resulted in bitter enemies.
Later when Cottnam Tonge became leader of the opposition he became the
scapegoat of all the blame in the government house members.

Later in the year, after the prorogation of the House, Wentworth suspended
him from the office that he held as “Naval Officer.” His replacement was Mr.
John Beckwith, who naturally had strong ties in Nova Scotia.

For the previous nine years Wentworth wrote letters to England’s Trade
and Plantations director that condemned Cottnam Tonge. His chief complaint
was that Tonge was seeking a recommendation for loyalty, assisted by a Roman
Catholic trader who was so bigoted as to think he serves his religion by opposing
a Protestant Government, and calling meetings of the militia officers to resign
their commissions.

However, it did not appear that Tonge was guilty of any disloyalty or
disaffection. Just opposing the measures of the local executive was not proof of
any violation of any principle of the constitution.

In the Spring of 1807, Sir John Wentworth received several official
complaints from His Majesty’s vessels and ships at Halifax. This was in respect
of the “illicit trading” being carried on between the United States and the British
subjects living in the Bay of Fundy region from Nova Scotia and New Brunswick
and also the right to occupy Moose Island.

This was near Campobello [sland. It was a rallying point for the deserters
from His Majesty’s Navy, some escaped prisoners and the run away indentured
servants. This was also a general rendezvous for the smuggling and trading of
goods, such as lime stone, plaster of Paris and fish being traded, “over the side,”
for household goods, food supplies, rum, brandy and even livestock for the
farmers. This was thereby, “defrauding the British government,” because no
taxes would be collected on these items.

It was then decided by Lord Castlereagh and the Treasury Council in
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London to approve to Wentworth, a sum of money to purchase an armed schooner,
called a “revenue schooner” to halt this illicit trade and smuggling to stop this,
“defrauding the British Government.” The Navigation Laws were still in practice
in Nova Scotia and New Brunswick.

The finding of a “revenue schooner” was then undertaken by Admiral
Berkeley and a Mr. Leonard, who was the Superintendent of Trade and Fisheries.
Their choice was a ship called the, A7/anta, that was built in Quebec in 1802. It
was registered in Sydney, Nova Scotia but then transferred to Halifax on June
30, 1807. Her name was changed to the, Hunter, and it went into a “refit” and
general inspection at H.M. Dockyard. The price of the vessel was £810, British
sterling, but £900, Halifax currency. It was refitted with 8 guns, 4 to each side,
for the purpose of engaging Privateers, etc.

In addition to patrolling the Atlantic seaboard, including Campobello
Island, the Hunter would be used to carry official correspondence, such as writs
for new elections, reports to the militia units, and visit all the sea ports in the
province.

The real problem was that any “opposition” to the so called, “status quo,”
or the ruling clique, was viewed deeply with hostility by anybody with influence.
The province was therefore run by a financial oligarchy and not a democracy,
whose rationale was “the greatest good for the greatest number.” In this case it
was the “greatest good” for the smallest number of carefully chosen Council
members.

On the high seas the British Navy persisted in taking the seamen off both
merchant and American vessels. There was a serious incident on the “high
seas” that started, eventually, the war of 1812. It was a very dangerous incident
that confounded everybody. The H.M.S. Leopard fired upon the United States
warship Chesapeak and captured several crew members. The Leopard then
took their captives to Halifax.

A trial was conducted and as a court martial and this took place aboard
the Belle Isle, which was the flag ship of the Halifax squadron. Only one man
was found guilty of meeting, desertion and contempt. He was sentenced to be
hanged at the yard arm. This was at the waterfront and intended to be an example
of for any mariner or sailor who would think of desertion.

The civilian population was certainly not impressed and the militia began
to prepare for a potential invasion by the Americans and their French allies.
Over 1,000 men were brought to the garrison as militia reserves. The 98"
Regiment and the Newfoundland Fencibles were sent to Quebec. Another 500
men were drafted from the country to replace the 98" Regiment.
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Sir John Wentworth told the General that the situation at St. Margarets
Bay and Cole Harbour would the likely areas of landing an invasion force.
Their advance to Halifax Harbour would, however, be very difficult for artillery
and logistics.

The call for militia reached the number of 5000 men who expected to
receive arms and weapons. In order to encourage these militia to leave their
farms and fishing villages, the total of £15 would be given to every widow of
these men who would be killed while serving their, “King and Country.”

On April 15, upon the recommendation of Theophilus Chamberlain, the
court appointed John Allen, George Simpson and Samuel Wheston as the
Assessors of Dartmouth, and Thomas Settle as Collector. The county rates for
Dartmouth was set at £70.

On June 3, the Court ordered that W. Innis, T. Chamberlain and John
Woodin be again returned to make a list of Return Officers to be sworn into
office.

On June 15, Mr. T. Chamberlain recommended Mr. John Ross as the
Hogrieve for Dartmouth. The Court accepted the regulations for the Town of
Dartmouth.

In a court session, Ann Condon was ordered to appear. She was then
discharged on June 16 because no person appeared to prosecute against her.

A formal partition of the land that was granted to George Fottingham and
William Magee. This involved Edward Foster, Samuel Greenwood and Edward
Foster Junior. Lots 1 and 3 went to the Fosters but lot number 2 went to Samuel
Greenwood.

Samuel Hart mortgaged 18 acres of land in Preston to Phoebe Moody
for the sum of £333. Hart was to repay the sum by March 7, 183 with legal
interest per year.

On May 6, Samuel Hart received another mortgage from Phoebe Moody
for the sum of £92:5:0. For collateral there was 250 acres in Preston with
another town lot of 50 acres with a separate lot of 1% acres called lot number 9
of the letter G which bounded on Isaac Kettle’s lot. Another property used for
the mortgage was the notorious “Rats Tail Tavern,” in Halifax, at the corner of
Water Street and Bedford Row. This mortgage would be repaid by March 26,
1813.

James and Margery Ross mortgaged 80 acres of the Maroon Plan lands to
Duncan McQueen, for £100. This was for 3 years.

On June 26, Lawrence and Abigail Hartshorne sold a lot of land in
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Dartmouth to Michael Herbert, for £50. This was located on the South side of
lot number 27, on the East by the land of James Creighton, on the Northwest by
lot number 25 and on the Southwest by the harbour. There were 80 acres involved
that included buildings, etc.

On June 26, Conrod and Ann Gebhard sold 167 acres of land in the Cole
Harbour area to Philip Gebhard, for £41:13:4. This included a of the lot that
was laid out to Joseph Chadwick for 100 acres. Also a lot that was in the rear of
Joseph Goreham’s property and then it extended back to Cole Harbour.

Phoebe Moody sold lot number 12 in Cochran’s Woods, of 30 acres
exclusive of water rights and the lake, to Thomas Donaldson, for £100.

Margaret Floyer mortgaged 2 lots of land, 31 acres and 27 acres, to Thomas
N. Jeffrey for the sum of £100. These lots were located on the Dartmouth to
Preston Highway. The mortgage also included a house with a brook as a boundary
line and a lot near Samuel King’s sawmill near Lake Lamont next to the highway.
This was for one year. '

Theophilus Chamberlain sold 200 acres, which was the lot number 13
and part of the sawmill lot in the Long Lake area of Preston, to William Garrett
for £12:10:0.

In July, William Gray sold lot number 16 of the letter B, 3 acres in Preston,
to Tobias Miller, for £3. James and Margery Ross sold 80 acres of the old
Maroon Plan lots, being lot number 22, to William Adams, for £250.

On September 4, John Wisdom gave 95 acres of land in Dartmouth to his
son Henry Wisdom. This was bounded on the land of Ebenezer Allen to the
property of Benjamin Wakefield.

Shipping records for Halifax Harbour in 1807 included the following:
Inbound: Great Britain - 30 ships - 6,891 tons; West Indes - 50 ships - 5,013
tons; British North America - 133 ships - 9,646 tons; and United States - 79
ships - 6,271 tons. Outbound: Great Britain - 12 ships - 2,170 tons; West Indes
- 80 ships - 9,269 tons, British North America - 107 ships - 10, 036 tons; and
United States - 52 ships -4,297 tons.

In September, the Hunter, was outfitted again at St. John, New Brunswick,
for £139:14:1%. Then it went on a cruise to the Gulf of St. Lawrence and
Prince Edward Island. It picked up fresh supplies and received Blacksmith
work at Pictou, and Canso, a load of salt at Manchester, and later some leather
goods and firewood from Lunenburg.

There was a crew of 24 men and the cost was £556:1:10. An estimation
of the cost of running this, “revenue schooner” was made at £1800 per year in
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Halifax currency. This was made by a committee of local merchants that included
Andrew Belcher, Lawrence Hartshorne, Thomas Boggs, Foreman Grassie,
William Smith, John Black and the Captain Charles Leonard.

The estimate of £1800 was exceeded to £2,752 from June 1, 1807 to
January 5, 1808. The Captain could not explain where the extra expense could
be traced.

The local merchants were allowed to submit bids on the supplies and
materials required for the, Hunter, for customs and Revenue service. For
Dartmouth this included, Jonathan Tremain, £34:13:7 for ship’s chandlery.
Richard Mundy, £39:7:11'2 for blacksmith supplies. Hartshorne and Boggs,
£32:4:6 for supplies. To Seth Coleman, £23:6:7 for a cutter boat 22 feet long
and repairs to a small boat, priming the new boat and one small oar. Edward
Wisdom for dipt candles, £1:10:0. Francis Storey for flour and biscuit, £20:3:3.
Capel Hians for beef and supplies, £5:0:0. John Greenwood for masts and
booms, £8:18:62. Augustus Tullock for painting, oars, boats, cabin, etc. at
Dartmouth. Richard Best for one pair of old carriage guns for ballast, £2:0:0.
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1808

The legislature has revised and amended the Militia Laws in conformity
to His Majesty’s instructions. £3,500 would be provided by London for the
militia and for new defense for Halifax Harbour.

March 28, 1808, Sir John Wentworth to Lord Castlereagh . . . “a large
supply is now preparing to export to the Windward Islands, for the King’s
contractor for the use of the Army and Navy in that district . . . salted beef and
pork cannot yet be exported from home—the curing and packing of these articles
is not sufficiently understood to preserve it in that climate . . .

“A surplus of bread and flour would have probably been in the town, had
the preceding contracts or supplies been furnished from the manufacturing flour
merchants of this town, which they are very competent to perform, at least as
cheap ... it will always be fresh and new made when delivered without cost of
morrage, cask, or waste by vermin or by decay . . .

“. .. The contractor in the Windward Islands, recommended by Rear
Admiral Sir Alexander Cochrane, Commander in Chief on that station, to my
assistance and aid requires Lawrence Hartshorne, Esquire, a very judiciously
appointed to this Agency, to furnish a quantity of salted provisions with the
other provisions and cattle necessary for His Majesty’s Service, to fulfill this
order if practicable at all, with the Unite